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 QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 
1. Whether claims challenging certain statements describing a company’s 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks are inactionable under 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b) as a matter of law, and whether those claims adequately plead 

scienter. 

 

2. Whether a claim for control person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) requires 

an allegation that the control person was a culpable participant in the primary 

violation. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 
 Red River was founded by James Wilson (“Wilson”) in 1962 in West 

Texas. R. at 2. To become one of the United States’ larger independent oil 

companies, Red River had to overcome a series of environmental problems and 

destructive oil field fires. R. at 2. The success of Red River is credited to a risky 

strategy in which Wilson would explore less than ideal fields that larger 

companies had written off. R. at 2. In 1985, Red River’s need for capital 

exceeded the Houston banking market’s appetite for Wilson’s risky strategy, 

forcing Wilson to take Red River public and register under the Exchange Act. R. 

at 2-3. By the late 1990s, Wilson began to worry about Red River’s future, as 

there seemed to be a limit to the viability of domestic fields remaining. R. at 3. 

However, during a trip to The North Texas College of Mines in Plano, Texas, 

Wilson met a geology professor who expansively described the process of 

hydraulic fracking (“fracking”), and how the technology could be used to make 

West Texas a rich source of oil and gas. R. at 3. While Wilson knew that 

fracking would be highly controversial and Red River’s environmental team had 

expressed hesitation about the risks associated with drilling in the West Texas 

fields, Wilson went “all-in,” drawing down heavily as he placed a singular bet 

on fracking operations. R. at 4. 

Wilson would serve as board chairman and chief executive officer of Red 

River alongside Pamela Thompson (“Thompson”), who served as chief operating 

and environmental officer, and Sandra Grimes (“Grimes”), who served as senior 

vice president and general counsel. Although Thompson and Grime had spent 
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their careers in large oil service companies and were well versed in regulatory 

compliance and public disclosure requirements, Wilson felt as though 

Thompson “obsessed over environmental compliance,” and Grimes was 

obsessed with “regulatory and litigation disclosure[s].” R. at 3. Throughout the 

duration of this action, Wilson maintained his general distaste “for compliance 

requirements and what he considered bureaucratic red tape.” R. at 4. This 

belief led to frequent tension and conflict with Thompson and Grimes regarding 

the tone and content of Red River’s disclosure documents. R. at 4. In an email 

exchange with Thompson and Grimes in January of 2018, Wilson expressed 

his view that Red River’s environmental disclosures “focused too much on 

minor environmental mishaps.” R. at 5. Wilson additionally felt that the 

corporate procedures requiring his “positive environmental statements” to be 

cleared with Thompson and Grimes amounted to “muzzling.” R. at 5. 

 At a talk Wilson attended on February 2, 2018, a gas company’s senior 

vice president expressed that, in her view, there was “little risk of Section 10(b) 

exposure in generalized statements about a company’s commitment to 

compliance and its efforts to protect the environment and that she held a 

liberal stance on making statements “regarding compliance and environmental 

preparedness” as long as those statements did not make “factual assertions 

and did not omit relevant background or context.” R. at 6. Wilson, seemingly 

empowered by these assertions, informed Thompson and Grimes that Red 

River’s public statements and disclosure documents needed to take a more 

positive tone. R. at 6. Red River’s disclosure documents were revised to 
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emphasize the positive tone Wilson required. R. at 6. The March 1, 2018 

Annual Report and Form 10-K for Red River stated: (1) “[O]ur commitment to 

protecting the environment is unwavering and constant,” (2) “[T]here is no 

higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues to be 

conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the environment and 

preventing or remediating any damage resulting from environmental 

occurrence,” (3) “Red River conducts frequent environmental practices reviews 

to assure our commitment to environmental best practices and devotes our 

most talented personnel and a substantial budget to ensuring protection of the 

environment,” (4) “[T]he company invested in the latest technology in order to 

minimize surface water or soil contamination,” and (5) “[T]he fracking process 

involves no serious environmental issues not associated with conventional 

drilling.” R. at 6. 

 Wilson also began to express his opinions on topics that had been off-

limits previously. At a May 15, 2018 conference, Wilson stated, without 

clearing the content with Thompson or Grimes, (6) “I think we have the tightest 

environmental practices in the West Texas oil patch,” and (7) “I honestly believe 

a major environmental event has a zero percent chance of occurring on our 

property. We just pay too much attention for that to happen.” R. at 7. On June 

1, 2018, Red River filed a form 10-Q announcing that the company’s financial 

and operating risks for the quarter were “the possibility that its operations 

could be subject to disruptions by natural disasters beyond our control, 



4 
Team R7 

 
 

including severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 

R. at 7-8. 

 Over a two month period in late 2017, several university geology 

departments contacted Red River regarding low-level seismic activity in the 

Eagle Ford Shale, an area in which Red River was actively fracking. R. at 5. At 

the time, Red River’s environmental team was unconcerned by the seismic 

activity and the “unlikely event that it was attributable to fracking,” and as a 

result, the reports were neither investigated or disclosed. R. at 5. However, in 

early May 2018, Red River again received calls from geology departments 

reporting increased seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. R. at 7. Thompson, 

who was concerned that the reports of low-level seismic activity were 

attributable to Red River’s fracking, met with Grimes and Wilson to decide how 

to handle the report. R. at 7. As a result of the meeting, the trio decided that 

the report “did not warrant a potentially market roiling disclosure,” but decided 

to investigate the reports during an environmental practices review in July. R. 

at 7. On May 28, 2018, Red River received even more calls regarding frequent 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. R. at 7. Despite being aware of 

Wilson’s aggressive statements regarding the compliance and risk associated 

with their fracking operations, Thompson and Grimes again postponed a 

decision to disclose the adverse reports. R. at 7. 

 On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) 

purchased Red River shares for $27 million, and on June 7, the Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) purchased $31 million of Red River 
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shares. Three days later, there was a series of seismic shocks that rocked the 

Eagle Ford Shale, destroying the integrity of Red River’s toxic wastewater 

storage site and resulting in millions of gallons of wastewater infiltrating the 

West Texas groundwater and seeping into the regional aquifers. R. at 8. As a 

result, Red River’s common stock decreased twenty-five percent at market’s 

close on the day of the disaster. R. at 8. 

 A later investigation by federal and state agencies revealed that Red River 

had been using excessive amounts of explosives in their fracking process. R. at 

8. Although the reports were inconclusive as to whether the excessive 

explosives had led to the activity, all investigative parties concurred that Red 

River’s fracking process was the proximate cause of the toxic wastewater 

escaping the storage site. R. at 8. The reports also concluded, as Red River’s 

engineers had warned, that the company’s toxic wastewater storage tanks were 

filled beyond capacity at the time of the disaster. R. at 8. 

 On August 10, 2018, TRSF and FMRF (collectively “Respondents”), filed a 

putative class action on behalf of all purchasers of Red River’s common stock 

between March 2, 2018 and August 2, 2018 against Red River and Wilson 

(collectively “Petitioners”) in the District of Fordham. R. at 8. The District Court 

granted Petitioners’ motion to dismiss on both asserted claims. Respondents 

timely filed an appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit, which in turn, reversed the decision of the District Court. 

R. at 10, 26. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted by this Court on 

February 1, 2019, leading to this case. R. at 37. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s denial of Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss was 

proper; Respondents have pleaded sufficient facts to draw a strong inference 

that Respondents made misleading statements of material facts while acting 

with scienter, and that James Wilson is liable as a control person.  

James Wilson, through Red River, has made eight statements exalting 

the company’s environmental commitments, practices, and risks. However, 

these statements were made while Red River was aware of at least three 

instances of reports of seismic activity at the company’s fracking site. 

Additionally, Red River was aware that their own engineering team had warned 

James Wilson that the company’s toxic wastewater storage needed to be 

upgraded. Omitting to publically report these issues was motivated, at least in 

part, in order to avoid a “potentially market roiling disclosure.” Further, in light 

of these issues, Red River made the statements with a reckless disregard for 

their truth or falsity. 

Respondents have also sufficiently alleged that Wilson is liable as a 

control person under Section 20(a). Respondents have shown a primary 

violation by Red River and that Wilson was the Chief Executive Officer of the 

company, thereby establishing a prima facie allegation under Section 20(a). 

This Court should decline to adopt a culpable participant element as it would 

mirror the liability established by Section 10(b) and is inconsistent with the 

language of Section 20(a). However, Respondents have pleaded facts 

demonstrating Wilson’s culpable participation in the violation. 
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ARGUMENT 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s Denial of Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss must be 
affirmed because Respondents have sufficiently pleaded facts alleging 
Petitioners made materially misleading statements while displaying 
scienter, and that Wilson maintained control over Red River at the time 
of the materially misleading statements. 
 

Questions of law, such as the merits of a motion to dismiss, are reviewed 

de novo. See Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557 (1988). A motion to 

dismiss is only appropriate where a complaint fails “to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In order to survive a 

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, 

accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft 

v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). A claim 

that is plausible on its face has “factual content that allows the court to draw 

the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct 

alleged.” Id. 

In evaluating whether a §10(b) complaint was properly pleaded, a court 

must “accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true,” and “assess all 

the allegations holistically.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 

U.S. 308, 322 (2007). Here, as the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit held, Respondents have sufficiently pleaded facts, taken as 

true, for both claims at issue, and therefore Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss 

must be denied. 
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I. Respondents have pleaded sufficient facts to draw a strong inference 
that Petitioners made materially misleading statements while acting with 
scienter. 
 A plaintiff seeking to bring a Section 10(b) claim must allege that the 

defendant (1) made material misrepresentation or omission; (2) with scienter; 

(3) in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, (4) upon which the 

plaintiff relied, (5) causing an economic loss to the plaintiff. See Dura 

Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 554 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005). As claims under 

Section 10(b) allege fraud, the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 

(“PSLRA”) and Rule 9 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require plaintiffs 

to plead the circumstances that constitute fraud and the defendant’s state of 

mind.  15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1); Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

A. The facts, as pleaded, support a strong inference that Petitioners made 
materially misleading statements which caused injury to Respondents. 
 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 “provides a cause of 

action for any plaintiff who suffers an injury because of deceptive practices 

touching its sale or purchase of securities.” Santa Fe Industries, Inc., v. Green, 

430 U.S. 462 (1977). In order to state an actionable Section 10(b) claim, a 

plaintiff must allege that the defendant made misrepresentations that were 

“misleading as to a material fact.” Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 

38 (2011).  “Any untrue statement of a material fact or . . . omit[ting] to state a 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made not misleading” will constitute an 

actionable misrepresentation. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. However, Courts have 
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identified several categories of statements, including corporate mismanagement 

and puffery, which cannot form the basis of a Section 10(b) claim. 

1. The materially misleading statements made by Petitioners amount to 
more than mere corporate mismanagement and are, therefore, 
actionable. 
 

In determining which statements constitute the basis for a Section 10(b) 

claim, the Supreme Court has held that federal securities laws should not be 

invoked to regulate “internal corporate mismanagement.” Santa Fe at 462. 

When “the central thrust of a claim or series of claims arises from acts of 

corporate mismanagement, the claims are not cognizable under federal law.” 

Panter v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271 (1981). However, “the mere fact 

that the conduct in question arguably constitutes mismanagement will not 

preclude a claim under the federal securities laws if the defendant made a 

statement of material fact wholly inconsistent with known existing 

management or failed to disclose a specific material fact resulting from the 

mismanagement.” In re Donna Karan Int’l Sec. Litig., No. 97-CV-2011, 1998 WL 

637547, at 10 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 1998). Therefore, although claims relating to 

mere corporate mismanagement will not be sufficient for a Section 10(b) claim, 

those which “go beyond simple corporate mismanagement” are actionable. Id.  

In Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, the Second 

Circuit determined that the statements in question went beyond corporate 

mismanagement and were actionable under Section 10(b). Suez Equity 

Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001). In that 

case, a group of investors bought shares of a healthcare-financing venture 
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based off of a false background check given to them about the company’s main 

corporate executive. Id. The Second Circuit held in favor of the plaintiffs 

because their “complaint [was] not that they disagree[d] with the business 

choices of [the healthcare venture], but rather that they were allegedly lulled 

into forgoing an investigation into the corporate executive’s background and, 

ultimately, into investing in the company to their loss.” Id. (emphasis added). 

Because the plaintiffs pleaded that they were induced into purchasing the 

shares due to the defendant’s misleading statements, and not because of post 

hoc critiques of management decisions, the claims were actionable under 

Section 10(b). 

In Donna Karan, the Eastern District of New York illustrated the 

difference between statements falling under the Exchange Act, and those that 

did not, by holding that only three of the alleged misleading statements were 

actionable. Donna Karan at 10. In that case, a class of plaintiffs sued Donna 

Karan International (“DKI”), alleging that the company included false and 

misleading statements in its prospectus, which induced the plaintiffs to 

purchase its securities. Id. Of the 12 allegedly misleading statements, the court 

dispensed of allegations relating to statements about “cost control problems” 

and those that “assail[ed] the conduct, judgment, and abilities of DKI’s 

management . . .” as mere corporate mismanagement. Id. The court then went 

on state that the remaining allegations, that DKI had falsely “characterized its 

Beauty Division as a success and a vital component of the company’s present 

and future”, fell sufficiently under the Act’s purview. Id. at 11. In so holding, 
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the court highlighted that plaintiffs must plead that they were actually misled 

by the alleged misrepresentations, instead of simply unsatisfied with 

management’s decisions. 

Here, Respondents have alleged sufficient facts that Petitioners’ 

statements 2-4 were materially misleading, and not mere corporate 

mismanagement. The misleading statements made by Petitioners included both 

misstatements of material fact, as well as omissions of necessary information, 

that induced Respondents to purchase the securities to their detriment. In 

Statement 2 Petitioners claimed that they have “no higher priority” than 

ensuring environmental safety and compliance; in Statement 3 claimed that 

they conduct “frequent environmental practices reviews” and devoted their best 

talent to “ensure protection of the environment”; and in Statement 4 claimed 

that their adoption of the latest environmental technology “differentiated them 

from their competitors.” All three statements, which were issued in the 

company’s March 1, 2018 10-K, were made while Petitioners used excessive 

blasting techniques, knew that they didn’t have the necessary wastewater 

storage, and disregarded multiple reports of seismic activity. Investors then 

relied upon these misleading statements in assessing the risk of their 

investment, resulting in large financial losses. 

Respondents are not alleging that Petitioners should have increased 

wastewater storage nor taken action when they got unsettling seismic reports, 

because doing so would mean alleging corporate mismanagement.  

Alternatively, Respondents allege that the statements made by Petitioners, 
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which were false and misleading at the time they were issued, induced them 

into making an investment that they would not have otherwise made. Similar 

to Suez, the statements made by Petitioners lulled Respondents into forgoing 

an investigation into the environmental risks of the company, and therefore the 

risks of their investment. Thus, statements 2-4 are materially misleading and 

are not inactionable allegations of corporate mismanagement. 

2. The materially misleading statements made by Petitioners amount to 
more than mere puffery and are, therefore, actionable. 
 

Under Section 10(b), certain statements “are inactionable as a matter of 

law because they are too general to cause a reasonable investor to rely on 

them.” In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 (S.D.N.Y. 

2017) (internal quotations omitted). The puffery determination “requires courts 

to engage in a fact-specific inquiry that depends on all the relevant 

circumstances.” Id. Due to the fact-intensive nature of the claim, a complaint 

“may not properly be dismissed . . . on the ground that the alleged 

misstatements or omissions are not material unless they are so obviously 

unimportant to a reasonable investor that reasonable minds could not differ on 

the question of their importance.” ECA, Local 1134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of 

Chi. V. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 197 (2nd Cir. 2009). 

In determining whether allegedly misleading statements are actionable, 

rather than puffery, courts have often looked to the specificity of the 

statements and the context in which they were made. See Novak v. Kosaks, 

216 F.3d 300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000). Although “puffing statements . . . generally 

lack materiality because the market price of a share is not inflated by vague 
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statements . . . in particular contexts when it is both factual and material, it 

may be actionable.” In re Massey Energy Co. Sec. Litig., 883 F. Supp. 2d 597, 

618 (S.D.W. Va. 2012). Even statements of “general corporate optimism . . . 

give rise to securities violations . . . [when] they are worded as guarantees or 

are supported by specific statements of fact, or if the speaker does not 

reasonably believe them.” Id. 

In Massey, the court held that the plaintiffs had sufficiently alleged 

misleading statements made by the company regarding both regulatory and 

safety issues. Id. There, a class of investors sued a coal mining company 

(“Massey”), alleging that the company’s stock had been artificially inflated due 

to management’s misleading statements. Id. Massey had released statements 

that safety was “job one every day” and that they “endeavored to conduct 

mining operations in compliance with applicable federal, state, and local laws 

and regulations.” The mining company also omitted information, and misled 

investors, about the frequency of regulatory and safety violations. Because the 

statements were false, and they lead reasonable investors to invest in Massey, 

the court held that by “aligning their statements of commitment to safety to 

their productivity and success as a company” Massey had “lent credence to the 

materiality of their statements”, making them more than mere puffery. The 

court also held that “the omission of an accurate frequency . . . of citations by 

regulatory authorities for safety violations, altere[d] the total mix of information 

about Massey as an investment,” making the omission materially misleading. 
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In Banco Bradesco, the court held that “[t]he principle that corporate 

statements about compliance with law, or statements of corporate optimism, 

are inactionable puffery, does have some acknowledged limits.” Banco Bradesco 

at 659. In that case, shareholders brought suit against a Brazilian bank for 

making false and misleading statements about pending criminal charges 

against the bank. See Id. Although management knew of the possibility of 

criminal charges and corruption by executives, the company released 

misleading statements stressing their commitment legal compliance, including 

that it had “adopted a formal and effective process for preventing and 

combating corruption and bribery.” Id. at 659. The court held that the 

statements were actionable because they were “made repeatedly in an effort to 

reassure the investing public about the company’s integrity, a reasonable 

investor could [have] rel[ied] on them.” Id. 

Here, Petitioners’ statements 2, 4, 5, 7 and 8 went well beyond simple 

puffery. Statements 2 and 4, where Petitioners purported to recognize 

environmental protection as the company’s highest priority, were materially 

misleading because, when the statements were made, management was 

repeatedly and knowingly ignoring environmental concerns. Similar to Massey, 

Statements 2 and 4 were made to “align the company’s commitment to safety 

to their productivity and success as a company.” Because investors relied on 

those statements in assessing the risk of their investment, the statements were 

materially misleading. 
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Additionally, Statements 5, 7 and 8 are more than vague, inactionable 

statements, and were relied upon by Respondents in their investment 

decisions. Statement 5 (“fracking involves no serious environmental issues”) 

and Statement 8 (“operations could be subject to disruption from natural 

disasters”) go beyond puffery because they omit material information of the 

seismic reports that presented significant risks for the company. Statement 7 

also goes beyond puffery because, when looking at the “context” of the 

disclosure, a reasonable investor could have seen the “zero percent” chance of 

environmental event as a guarantee. Similar to Massey, Statements 5, 7 and 8 

materially “altered the total mix of information” about the investment, making 

the omission of the seismic reports, and the guarantee of no environmental 

events, materially misleading. As a result, all five statements go beyond mere 

corporate puffery and are actionable under Section 10(b). 

B. The facts, as pleaded, support a strong inference that that Petitioners 
acted with scienter in making material misleading statements. 
  
 The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”) requires 

that a Section 10(b) complaint plead facts that give “rise to a strong inference 

that a defendant acted with” scienter. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). In creating this 

increased pleading standard, Congress hoped to reinforce “the PSLRA’s twin 

goals: to curb frivolous litigation,” while continuing to preserve “investors’ 

ability to recover on meritorious claims.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 

Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 309 (2007). 

The scienter pleading standard additionally requires courts to take into 

account other “plausible, nonculpable explanations for the defendant’s 
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conduct.” Id.; see Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27 (2011). A 

complaint sufficiently pleads scienter only if the inference is “more than merely 

plausible or reasonable—it must be cogent and at least as compelling as any 

other inference of nonfraudulent intent.” Tellabs, Inc., 551 U.S. at 314. 

However, the inference of scienter drawn from the pleadings “need not be 

irrefutable.” Id. at 310. A complaint, therefore, will survive a motion to dismiss, 

if a reasonable person could find an “inference of scienter cogent and at least 

as compelling as any plausible opposing inference one could draw from the 

facts alleged.” Id. 

Scienter has been described as a “mental state embracing [an] intent to 

deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” Id. at 319. All Circuit Courts have held that 

the deliberate recklessness of a defendant may also satisfy the scienter 

requirement. See id. This Court has assumed, without deciding, that the 

scienter requirement may be satisfied by a showing of deliberate recklessness. 

Matrixx Initiatives, 563 U.S. at 48.  

 Recklessness in this context is not simply inexcusable negligence, but 

rather “unreasonable omissions or misrepresentations that [are] an extreme 

departure from the standard of ordinary care,” that creates a danger of 

misleading investors. Abrams v. Baker Hughes Inc., 292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 

2002). The danger presented by a defendant’s “unreasonable omissions or 

misrepresentations” could have either be known to the defendant or “so 

obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it.” Id. Factual allegations 

that show a defendant knew their statements were false or that they were 
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reckless in making potentially false statements light of contrary reports can 

give rise to a strong inference of scienter. See, e.g., Gebhart v. S.E.C., 595 F.3d 

1034, 1041 (9th Cir. 2010); S.E.C. v. Lyttle, 538 F.3d 601, 603 (7th Cir. 2008) 

(holding scienter to mean “that the defendant either knew that the 

representations they made to investors were false or were reckless in 

disregarding a substantial risk that they were false”); South Cherry Street, LLC 

v. Hennessee Group LLC, 573 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2009) (“This Court has also 

long held that the scienter element can be satisfied by a strong showing of 

reckless disregard for the truth.”). 

1. Petitioners acted with scienter by not publicly disclosing external and 
internal reports of adverse effects even though they felt the reports were 
statistically insignificant. 
 

In Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, this Court held that the defendants in 

a private 10(b) action acted with the required scienter largely in part because 

they failed to disclose reports they had received regarding the adverse effects of 

one of their pharmaceutical products. Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 

U.S. 27, 49 (2011). In explaining their omission, the defendant’s argued, and 

the Court expressly rejected, that “the most obvious inference is that [we] did 

not disclose the reports simply because [we] believed they were far too few to 

indicate anything meaningful . . . .” Id. (“[Defendant’s] proposed bright-line rule 

requiring an allegation of statistical significance to establish a strong inference 

of scienter is . . . flawed.”). While the scienter analysis is holistic in nature, the 

Court, in light of defendant’s omission to disclose the adverse effects, 

specifically took issue with a statement issued by the defendant proclaiming 
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that their product did not cause the previously reported adverse effect. Most 

significantly, the defendant had not conducted any studies regarding the 

adverse effect and the scientific evidence at the time was insufficient to support 

such a claim making the statement unfounded and reckless. Id. 

 Here, similar to the defendant in Matrixx Initiatives, Petitioners failed to 

disclose specifically identified risks and adverse effects of their fracking 

operations. Petitioners received not just one report of increased seismic activity 

at Eagle Ford Shale, but multiple reports in three separate instances from 

several university geology departments over a span of a few months. R. at 5-7. 

The last two reports occurred within the month of May 2018, shortly before the 

environmental disaster. R. at 7. Although Petitioners’ environmental team 

associated with Petitioners’ massive deep discharge of waste water after the 

first set of calls, after the second set of reports, Wilson, Grimes, and Thompson 

determined that rather than “a potentially market roiling disclosure,” 

Petitioners would wait to conduct an investigation at a later date. R. at 7. That 

“investigation” had not been completed prior to, or even commenced prior to, 

Petitioners’ June 1 10-Q, which only included Risk Factors “beyond [their] 

control.” R. at 7-8. Petitioner’s argument that they disregarded the reports of 

seismic activity due to “the unlikely event that it was attributable to fracking,” 

has been explicitly held to be flawed by this Court in Matrixx Initiatives. 

 If the failure to disclose external reports, such as those found to be 

recklessly omitted in Matrixx Initiatives, of issues regarding Petitioners’ fracking 

operations weren’t troubling enough, Petitioners went even further in failing to 
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report, or even address, their own engineering team’s warning that they 

increase their capacity for the storage of toxic waste water as they had “come 

close to reaching capacity on a number of occasions.” R. at 5. Wilson, 

naturally, felt as though the concerns of his own environmental team “were 

overstated.” R. at 5. Therefore, by failing to publically disclose both the internal 

and external reports of adverse effects, Petitioner acted with scienter. 

2. Petitioners acted with scienter by making public statements in which 
they displayed reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of those 
statements. 
 
 A reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of statements has been widely 

accepted as satisfying the standard of scienter. See Gebhart, 595 F.3d at 1041; 

Lyttle, 538 F.3d at 603. In Gebhart v. S.E.C., the Ninth Circuit held that the 

defendants were reckless in their disregard for the truth or falsity of their 

statements to clients regarding the character of investment opportunities. 

Gebhart, 595 F.3d at 1043. The defendants were offered investment 

opportunities to pitch to their clients originated from a third party. Over the 

course of approximately four years, the defendants sold nearly $2.4 million in 

promissory notes to forty-five clients based on statements that the notes were 

proven investments, yielding substantial returns, and secured by real estate. 

Id. at 1038-39. However, the defendants failed to disclose to their clients that 

those statements were provided by the aforementioned third party with no 

independent verification by the defendants. Id. at 1039.  

 In rejecting defendants’ good-faith contention, the court correctly did not 

rely on hindsight to determine defendants’ statements were found later to be 
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false and as such reckless. See id. at 1044. Rather, the court found that due 

defendants’ lack of effort in corroborating the third party’s representation of 

these investments, defendants “were consciously aware that they lacked 

sufficient evidence” to support their statements. Id. 

 Like the defendant in Gebhart, here Petitioners made statements 

regarding their particular risks and environmental practices that they did not 

have the factual basis to support. In Petitioners’ 2018 10-K, it was stated by 

that “[f]racking involves no serious environmental issues not associated with 

conventional drilling.” R. at 6. The record contains no evidence regarding any 

kind of investigative or corroborating studies the Petitioners conducted or relied 

on in making these assertions to the public, showing blatant recklessness as to 

the truth or falsity of the company’s statements.  

 Additionally, Petitioners’ environmental team initially expressed 

hesitations about the risks associated with the drilling required for fracking in 

the West Texas fields. R. at 4. At a later 2018 conference of oil and gas 

securities analysts, Wilson, speaking on behalf of Red River, went even further 

to state that he “believes a major environmental event has about a zero percent 

change of occurring on our property,” because “we just pay too much attention 

for that to happen.” R. at 7. Similar to the statement this Court took exception 

issue with in Matrixx Initiatives, Petitioners’ statement is factually contradicted 

by their failure to act upon, or even investigate, the numerous external reports 

that they were causing seismic activity or the internal report that their toxic 

wastewater storage system required an upgrade.  
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3. A reasonable person would still consider an inference of scienter to be 
at least as compelling as any plausible, nonculpable explanations for 
Petitioners’ conduct drawn from the facts as plead.  
 
 While there are even more instances of troubling conduct, it is clear that 

through Petitioners’ discussed actions that there is at least a strong inference 

of scienter, in light of the information they had and did not have at the time of 

making the statements. However, this analysis must account for other 

“plausible, nonculpable explanations for the defendant’s conduct.” Tellabs, Inc. 

at 309. One inference “a reasonable person could . . . draw from the facts 

alleged” includes Wilson’s stated disdain for the reporting requirements of a 

public company. R. at 4-7. While reporting requirements may seem to some as 

“bureaucratic red tape,” R. at 4, many investors view these disclosures as 

factually supported statements and rely on these statements when evaluating 

whether to invest in a company or not. As such, this type of inference may also 

be considered “an extreme departure from the standard of care” that creates a 

danger of misleading investors. Abrams, at 430. 

 Another “reasonable” inference may be that Wilson trusted a gas 

exploration company’s senior vice president’s statement that “she saw little risk 

in Section 10(b) exposure in generalized statements about a company’s 

commitment to compliance and its efforts to protect the environment,” and that 

she held a liberal stance on making statements “regarding compliance and 

environmental preparedness,” as long as those statements did not make 

“factual assertions and did not omit relevant background or context.” R. at 6. 

Petitioners, however, made specific statements that were contrary to reports of 
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adverse effects of their fracking operations, statements that were not factually 

supported at the time they were made, and omitted to report the multiple 

instances of seismic reports and the company’s own concern for the capacity 

for their toxic wastewater storage.  

 When viewed holistically, Petitioners, through their actions, statements, 

and omissions, seriously misled potential investors and shareholders in a 

manner that could be considered to be an extreme departure from the standard 

of care. A reasonable person would find an inference of Petitioners’ scienter 

cogent and at least as compelling, if not more so, as any other plausible 

inference one could draw from the facts as alleged.    

II. Respondents successfully met the pleading requirements of Section 
20(a) by alleging that there was a Section 10(b) violation by Red River, 
that Wilson controlled Red River, and that Wilson was a culpable 
participant in the primary violation. 
 
 Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act states “[e]very person who . . . controls 

any person liable under any provision of this title . . . shall also be liable . . . to 

any person to whom such controlled person is liable . . . .” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). 

As the Court of Appeals noted, there are two undisputed elements of 

establishing a prima facie claim under Section 20(a): (1) there must be a 

primary violation by a controlled person and (2) the defendant exercised control 

over the primary violator. See Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 873-74 (8th 

Cir. 2010). A minority of circuits have adopted a third requirement, specifically 

“that the defendant was, in some meaningful sense, a culpable participant in 

the controlled person’s fraud.” Carpenters Pension Trust Fund of St. Louis v. 

Barclays PLC, 750 F.3d 227, 236 (2d Cir. 2014) (quoting ATSI, 493 F.3d at 
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108); see also Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 484 (3d Cir. 

2013). The other circuits to consider the question have rejected this third 

element. See Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d at 873-74; see also Harrison v. Dean Witter 

Reynolds, Inc., 974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1992); Hollinger, 914 F.2d 1564, 

1575 (9th Cir. 1990) (en banc); Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 

1985; G.A. Thompson & Co. v. Partridge, 636 F.2d 945, 957-58 (5th Cir. 1981). 

Respondents have sufficiently alleged a violation of Section 10(b), 

discussed in Section I, supra. Because Respondents have also alleged that 

Wilson maintained control over Red River, the Court should affirm the Court of 

Appeals’ ruling. Further, this Court should decline to adopt the “culpable 

participation” requirement. If, however, this Court does adopt this requirement, 

it must hold that Respondents have adequately alleged Wilson’s culpable 

participation in the Section 10(b) violation.  

A. Respondents have properly pleaded Wilson maintained control over 
Red River and its employees because Wilson signed Red River’s disclosure 
statements in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer. 
 
 As used in Section 20(a), “control” refers to “the possession, direct or 

indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and 

policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by 

contract, or otherwise.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2. Although the mere assertion 

that an individual was a director of a corporation does not suffice to allege a 

violation of Section 20(a), executives of a corporation tend to be treated as 

controlling persons. See Adams v. Kinder-Morgan, Inc., 340 F.3d 1083, 1108 

(10th Cir. 2003) (noting that “[d]uring the period in question, [the defendant] 
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was not an executive of the company, but simply a member of the board of 

directors” and thus not a controlling person) (emphasis added); see also City of 

Westland Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. MetLife, Inc., 928 F. Supp. 2d 705, 721 

(S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“[C]orporate officers usually are presumed to possess the 

ability to control the actions of their employees.”). In Adams, the Tenth Circuit 

remarked that the Chairman, President and CEO of a corporation “would have 

possessed the ultimate management authority . . . . He thus clearly possessed 

the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of 

[the corporation].” Adams, 340 F.3d at 1108 (internal quotations omitted).  

 Here, it is clear Wilson maintained control over Red River during the 

Section 10(b) violation. Respondents alleged that Wilson served as board 

chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Red River during the relevant time. R. 

at 3. Moreover, there is no dispute that Wilson signed Red River’s disclosure 

statements. R. at 23. These facts taken together “suffice[] to establish Wilson’s 

control over Red River . . . including those who prepared the disclosure 

documents.” R. at 23. Wilson’s position with the corporation suffices to 

establish his control over Red River. 

B. The Court should decline to adopt a “culpable participation” element 
because it would contradict the language of Section 20(a); if, however, the 
Court adopts such a requirement, Respondents have sufficiently alleged 
Wilson’s culpable participation in the Section 10(b) violation. 
 
 This Court has not decided whether a plaintiff is required to plead the 

individual defendant’s culpable participation in the violation as an additional 

element of a Section 20(a) claim. The Court should decline to adopt the third 

element of culpable participation because it would contradict the language of 
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15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). If, however, the Court adopts this pleading requirement, 

Respondents have still alleged that Wilson was a culpable participant given his 

disregard of seismic activity and wastewater storage problems and statements 

grossly minimizing the environmental impact of Red River’s operations. 

1. The Court should not adopt a culpable participation requirement 
because it is inconsistent with the language of 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  
 
 As the Court of Appeals observed, the term “culpable participation” is 

never referenced in the statute. R. at 25. The relevant portion of the statute 

states that “[e]very person who . . . controls any person liable under any 

provision of this title . . . shall also be liable . . . unless the controlling person 

acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts 

constituting the violation or cause of action.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Instead, the 

first use of the term appears in the Second Circuit’s Lanza opinion. Lanza v. 

Drexel & Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973) (“The intent of Congress in 

adding [Section 20] . . . was obviously to impose liability only on those 

directors . . . who are in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the 

fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.”). Again, however, “[n]owhere in the 

statute does it say that to be a controlling person a defendant must have 

actually participated in the primary violation.” First Interstate Bank, N.A. v. 

Pring, 969 F.2d 891, 898 (10th Cir. 1992).  

 One issue in adopting a culpable participation requirement to plead a 

claim under Section 20(a) is that such a requirement would make the act 

redundant. The Fifth Circuit reached this conclusion in its G.A. Thompson 

decision. G.A. Thompson, 636 F.2d at 960 (“[I]f intent were required[,] the 
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provision would hardly make anyone liable who would not be so otherwise.”). 

As this Court has noted, Section 20(a) creates liability where it may not 

otherwise exist for those controlling the actions of persons violating provisions 

of the Exchange Act. See Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 

564 U.S. 135, 146 (2011) (noting the Court would not read a theory of liability 

into SEC Rule 10b-5 similar to the liability established in Section 20(a)). 

A second, and related, issue is that the statute does not place the burden 

of proving the defendant’s intent on the plaintiff. The Tenth Circuit held “good 

faith and lack of participation are affirmative defenses in a controlling person 

action, and requiring them as part of the plaintiff’s prima facie case while 

allowing them as affirmative defenses, confuses the parties’ responsibilities and 

unnecessarily burdens plaintiffs contrary to the plain meaning of the statute.” 

Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. The Ninth has likewise held “a plaintiff is not required 

to show culpable participation . . . . That statute does not place such a burden 

on the plaintiff. Section 20(a) provides that a controlling person is liable unless 

[he] acted in good faith and did not” cause the primary violation. Hollinger, 914 

F.2d at 1575 (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted). Stated 

succinctly, “had Congress meant to require intentional misdoing, [the court 

would] assume it would have done so explicitly.” G.A. Thompson, 636 F.2d at 

960. Furthermore, when Congress passed the PSLRA in 1995, it could have 

made the heightened pleading requirement apply to all actions, not simply 

those where the plaintiff must plead facts indicating the defendant acted with a 

particular intent. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).  
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 As support for their argument, Petitioners point to the PSLRA’s provision 

indicating some situations in which a heightened pleading requirement is 

necessary. See R. at 33. The relevant provision, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2), states 

that when a plaintiff seeks money damages “only on proof that the defendant 

acted with a particular state of mind, the complaint shall . . . state with 

particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted 

with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). As one district court 

elaborated, “the PSLRA requires a plaintiff, at the pleading stage, to allege 

particular facts that give rise to a ‘strong inference’ of the requisite state of 

mind.” Mishkin v. Ageloff, No. 97 Civ. 2690, 1998 WL 651065, at *23 (S.D.N.Y. 

Sept. 23, 1998). That same court went observed that “a plaintiff must 

ultimately establish a defendant’s state of mind” when pursuing a Section 20(a) 

claim. Id. (emphasis in original). Furthermore, the court went on to conclude 

that a plaintiff must have “proof that the defendant acted with a particular 

state of mind” precisely because the culpable participant requirement, imposed 

by the Second Circuit and not by Section 20(a), forces an intent requirement 

that the plaintiff must meet. Id. at *24 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)).  

 The argument that the PSLRA requires a heightened pleading standard 

should fail. Section 20(a) sets out an affirmative defense for an individual 

accused of a Section 20(a) violation: he must act in good faith and not induce, 

directly or indirectly, the act or acts constituting the violation. 15 U.S.C. § 

78t(a). Requiring the plaintiff to plead facts tending to establish the individual 

defendant’s intent runs contrary to Section 20(a), which does not require “a 
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plaintiff [to] ultimately establish a defendant’s state of mind,” Mishkin, 1998 

WL 651065, at *23, but instead requires the defendant to affirmatively prove he 

acted in good faith and did not cause, directly or indirectly, the violation. 15 

U.S.C. § 78t(a). Any attempt to apply the PSLRA’s requirements to Section 20(a) 

is the result of judicial construction of a statutory element that does not exist 

in the language of the statute. 

 For the foregoing reasons, this Court should decline to adopt the 

culpable participation requirement. In doing so, the Court should affirm the 

judgment of the Court of Appeals as Respondents have sufficiently pleaded a 

Section 20(a) claim by showing a primary violation of Section 10(b) by Red 

River and that Wilson controlled Red River. 

2. If the Court adopts the culpable participation requirement, 
Respondents have nonetheless pleaded facts showing Wilson acted with 
the requisite intent. 
 
 Despite its use in both the Second and Third Circuits, no court has 

offered a definitive definition of “culpable participation.” See Belmont v. MB Inv. 

Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470 (3d Cir. 2013) (giving examples of what has 

constituted “culpable participation” without defining it); R. at 34 (“[N]o court 

has authoritatively defined ‘culpable participation’ . . . .”). According to courts 

that adopt this element, culpable participation is targeted at those “who were 

‘in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the fraud perpetrated by 

controlled persons.’” Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 885 (3d Cir. 

1975) (quoting Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1299). Courts tend to agree that “culpable 
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participation at a minimum requires something more than negligence.” 

Plumbers & Pipefitters, 741 F. Supp. At 491-92 (internal quotations omitted). 

In Belmont, the Third Circuit considered a Section 20(a) claim against 

several individual defendants given their failure to monitor an officer of one of 

the corporate defendants. Belmont, 708 F.3d at 484. The plaintiffs alleged that 

the “reckless failure” of those individuals made them culpable participants in 

that officer’s fraud. Id. In its decision, the court held that “reckless inaction” 

and failure to enforce compliance protocols by controlling persons was not 

sufficient to satisfy the culpable participation requirement. Id. at 486. Instead, 

the court held that “intentionally further[ing] the fraud” is what a court should 

look to in determining culpable participation. Id. at 487.  

 This case is distinguishable from Belmont because Wilson not only had 

knowledge of the fraud but failed to make public disclosures to preserve the 

financial health of the corporation. Upon discovering reports of seismic activity 

from fracking at the Eagle Ford Shale, Wilson decided against making “a 

potentially market roiling disclosure.” R. at 7. Instead, he decided to conduct a 

future “investigation.” Id. Such inaction was not the product of recklessness, 

but rather, attempting to protect the profitability of Red River. Similarly, 

Wilson’s statements that he “believe[d] a major environmental event has about 

a zero percent chance of occurring on our property” and “[w]e just pay too 

much attention for that to happen” reflect a material misstatement of reality. 

Id. Wilson made these statements two weeks after the second report of seismic 

activity and only decided “after considerable thought” to avoid releasing a 
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destabilizing disclosure. Id. In light of Wilson’s January 2018 email to 

Thompson and Grimes in which he shared his belief that environmental 

“disclosures were unbalanced and gave the impression that Red River was not 

a good corporate citizen,” one must draw the inference that Wilson valued Red 

River’s financial health at the expense of truthful public disclosures. Id. at 5. 

Finally, the 10-K disclosure that “[o]ur commitment to the environment is 

demonstrated through our investment in and adoption of the latest technology 

in order to minimize water or soil contamination” flies in the face Wilson’s 

refusal to invest in better wastewater storage facilities only a few months 

earlier. Id. at 5-6. Given that Respondents have pleaded facts establishing 

Wilson’s unwavering commitment to putting Red River’s financial viability and 

public image over truthful public disclosures regarding Red River’s untenable 

and unstable environmental practices, Respondents have met the requirements 

of alleging Wilson’s culpable participation as a controlling person.  

 

 

Conclusion 
 
 For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this 

Court affirm the Fourteenth Circuit’s denial of Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss 

and further request that this case be remanded for trial. 


